
立法會 
Legislative Council 

 
LC Paper No. CB(2)1980/06-07 
(These minutes have been seen 
by the Administration) 

 
Ref : CB2/PL/HA 
 

Panel on Home Affairs 
 

Minutes of meeting 
held on Friday, 13 April 2007, at 10:45 am 

in the Chamber of the Legislative Council Building 
 
 
Members : Hon CHOY So-yuk, JP (Chairman) 
  present   Hon Albert HO Chun-yan (Deputy Chairman) 

Hon James TIEN Pei-chun, GBS, JP 
Hon James TO Kun-sun 
Hon CHEUNG Man-kwong 
Dr Hon Philip WONG Yu-hong, GBS 
Hon LAU Wong-fat, GBM, GBS, JP 
Hon Emily LAU Wai-hing, JP 
Hon Albert CHAN Wai-yip 
Hon LI Kwok-ying, MH, JP 
Dr Hon Joseph LEE Kok-long, JP 
Hon Daniel LAM Wai-keung, SBS, JP  
Dr Hon Fernando CHEUNG Chiu-hung 
Hon CHEUNG Hok-ming, SBS, JP 
Hon WONG Ting-kwong, BBS  
Hon Patrick LAU Sau-shing, SBS, JP  
Hon TAM Heung-man 

 
 
Members : Hon Mrs Selina CHOW LIANG Shuk-yee, GBS, JP 
  attending Hon CHAN Yuen-han, JP 
   Hon Tommy CHEUNG Yu-yan, JP 
 
 
Members : Hon Andrew CHENG Kar-foo 
  absent  Hon Timothy FOK Tsun-ting, GBS, JP 

 
 
 



-  2  - 
 

Public Officers : Item IV 
  attending   

Mr Donald TONG Chi-keung 
Deputy Secretary for Home Affairs (1) 
 
Miss Joanna CHOI Chuen-han 
Principal Assistant Secretary for Home Affairs (2) 
 
 
Item V 
 
Mrs Carrie LAM CHENG Yuet-ngor 
Permanent Secretary for Home Affairs 
 
Miss Janet WONG Chin-kiu 
Principal Assistant Secretary for 
Home Affairs (Recreation and Sport) 
 
Miss Olivia CHAN Yeuk-oi 
Assistant Director (Leisure Services) 2 
Leisure and Cultural Services Department 
 
Dr Eric LI Ka-cheung 
Chairman 
Hong Kong Sports Institute Limited 
 
Dr CHUNG Pak-kwong 
Chief Executive 
Hong Kong Sports Institute Limited 
 
 
Item VI 
 
Mrs Betty CHU 
Assistant Director (Administration),  
Home Affairs Department 
 
Mr Allen Ng Ka-wing 
Deputy Commissioner of Estate Duty,  
Inland Revenue Department 
 
 

Clerk in : Miss Flora TAI 
  attendance  Chief Council Secretary (2)2 
 
 



-  3  - 
 

Staff in : Ms Joanne MAK 
  attendance  Senior Council Secretary (2)2 

 
Miss Kiwi NG 
Legislative Assistant (2)2 
 

 
 

Action 
I. Confirmation of minutes 

[LC Paper No. CB(2)1501/06-07] 
 
1. The minutes of the meeting held on 9 February 2007 were confirmed. 
 
 
II. Information paper(s) issued since the last meeting 
 
2. Members noted that the Administration had provided the following 
information papers for members' reference - 
 

(a) information paper on the "Government Complex at Mei Lai Road, 
Mei Foo, Lai Chi Kok" [LC Paper No. CB(2)1401/06-07(01)]; 

 
(b) information paper on the "Community Hall and Integrated Family 

Service Centre at Tung Tau Estate phase 9, Wong Tai Sin" [LC 
Paper No. CB(2)1526/06-07(01)]; and 

 
(c) information paper on "Rural elections" [LC Paper No. 

CB(2)1556/06-07(01)]. 
 
 
III. Items for discussion at the next meeting 

[Appendices I & II to LC Paper No. CB(2)1493/06-07] 
 

Regular meeting in May 2007 
 
3. Members agreed to discuss the following items at the next regular 
meeting scheduled for Friday, 11 May 2007, at 10:45 am - 
 

(a) Tin Shui Wai Public Library cum Indoor Recreation Centre; and  
 
(b) the Administration's follow-up action on the recommendations in 

paragraphs 9, 13, 15, and 18 of the concluding observations on 
the Second Report of the Hong Kong Special Administrative 
Region (HKSAR) in the light of the International Covenant on 
Civil and Political Rights (ICCPR).  

 



-  4  - 
 

Action 
 (Post-meeting note: the Panel subsequently agreed to replace the item 

referred to in paragraph 3(b) with "Further discussion on policy on long-
term sports development".) 

 
Lists of outstanding items for discussion and follow-up actions  
 

 
 
 
 
Clerk 

4. The Chairman invited members to note that, in response to members' 
requests, the Administration had provided updated information in regard to 
each item on the above two lists.  On the list of outstanding items for 
discussion, members agreed - 
 

(a) to delete "Safeguarding Hong Kong's core values" (item 10) from 
the list; 

 
(b) to request the Administration to revert on the earliest possible 

timing for discussion of "Amendments to the Sex Discrimination 
Ordinance and the Disability Discrimination Ordinance proposed 
by the Equal Opportunities Commission (EOC)" (item 16); and 

 
(c) to add that "the Administration had been required to give 

response to the recommendations in paragraphs 9, 13, 15, and 18 
of the concluding observations on the Second Report of HKSAR 
in the light of ICCPR" to the relevant paragraph under item 11, 
and to issue the Administration's response to members once it 
was available. 

 
Clerk 5. On the list of follow-up actions, members further agreed - 

 
(a) to enquire whether the Health, Welfare and Food Bureau was 

going to revert to the Panel on Welfare Services on issues relating 
to the submission of reports under the United Nations Convention 
on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (item 7); and 

 
(b) to request the Administration to advance the timing for 

submission to the Panel of the statistical reports prepared by the 
Census and Statistics Department (C&SD) on ethnic minorities 
and new arrivals from the Mainland (item 8).  

 
 
IV. Proposed amendments to the Attachment of Income Order 

Legislation 
[LC Paper No. CB(2)1503/06-07(01)] 
 

The legislative proposal 
 
6. Deputy Secretary for Home Affairs (1) (DSHA(1)) briefed members on 
the salient points of the Administration's proposal to amend the Attachment of 



-  5  - 
 

Action 
Income Order (AIO) legislation to the effect that the AIO legislation was 
applicable to the Government as an income source and was binding on persons 
whose income source was the Government. 
 
7. Members in general expressed support for the legislative proposal. 
Deputy Chairman said that the Department of Justice (DoJ) should ensure in 
the future that any legislative proposal would be applicable to the Government 
if it was the policy intent to do so.  Mr HO reminded the Administration to 
ensure that the AIO legislation would be applicable to any officer of statutory 
bodies, such as EOC, The Ombudsman, etc. as well as to the staff members of 
organisations such as the Independent Police Complaints Council which was 
independent from the Government but the staff members of its Secretariat were 
civil servants.  He requested the Administration to avoid any more omission 
regarding the applicability of an AIO in drafting the legislative proposal. 
 
8. DSHA(1) said that the Administration would ensure that the AIO 
legislation would be amended to the effect that the legislation was applicable to 
the Government as an income source and was binding on persons whose 
income source was the Government.  In this connection, the views and advice 
of the Civil Service Bureau (CSB) and DoJ had been solicited.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Admin 

9. Mr HO further asked whether the AIO legislation would be applicable to 
employees of state organs in Hong Kong including the Office of the 
Commissioner of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the People's Republic of 
China in HKSAR and the Liaison Office of the Central People's Government in 
HKSAR, and to local employees of foreign consulates established in Hong 
Kong.  DSHA(1) said the AIO legislation after amendment would not be 
applicable to Mainland officials of state organs in Hong Kong and undertook to 
provide a written response after the meeting.  

 
10. Mr LI Kwok-ying asked whether the legislative proposal was also aimed 
to cover staff employed by the Government on contractual basis.  DSHA(1) 
replied in the affirmative. 

 
Measures to facilitate enforcement of maintenance orders and timely collection 
of maintenance payment         
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

11. Mr Albert CHAN said that he had received many complaints about 
difficulties encountered by divorcees in claiming the maintenance payments
and in applying for legal aid.  He suggested that application procedures for 
AIOs should be streamlined and that simplified application forms should be 
made available, in order that maintenance payees would be able to complete 
relevant application procedures and fill out relevant forms on their own without 
having to apply for legal aid to appoint a solicitor.  He suggested that 
simplified application forms should also be made available for maintenance 
payers when they sought permission to vary or waive an AIO due to changes in 
financial conditions.  DSHA(1) responded that standard forms were already 



-  6  - 
 

Action 
 
Admin 

available to facilitate the application of AIOs.  He agreed to provide samples of 
the forms for members' information.   
 
12. DSHA(1) further pointed out that the complicated procedures in 
processing applications for CSSA and legal aid had been streamlined to reduce 
the number of visits required to be made by maintenance payees to the Social 
Welfare Department and the Legal Aid Department, and synchronised 
procedures for making applications for CSSA and legal aid had been 
implemented.  
 
13. Referring to paragraph 4 of the Administration's paper, Miss CHAN 
Yuen-han noted that only a total of 175 AIOs had been issued since the 
implementation of the AIO legislation in 1998 up till the present.  She asked 
about the total number of divorce cases and maintenance orders issued by the 
court during the same period, and whether the enforcement of maintenance 
orders was in general satisfactory or otherwise.  She said that some Legislative 
Council (LegCo) Members including herself had held a strong view that 
consideration should be given to setting up an intermediary body for the 
collection of maintenance payments.  She urged the Administration to 
reconsider the proposal.   
 
14. DSHA(1) briefed members of the following findings in the Thematic 
Household Survey Report No. 29 compiled by the Census and Statistics 
Department (C&SD) - 
 

(a) some 51 000 of those 227 100 divorced/separated persons had 
applied for a maintenance order for payment of alimony from the 
court; 

 
(b) 40 100 divorced/separated persons had successfully obtained a 

maintenance order; and 
 

(c) 22 200 divorced/separated persons were awarded non-nominal 
maintenance, of whom 11 200 persons had received the 
maintenance payment in full, while 11 000 persons reported 
otherwise.  9 000 of these 11 000 persons had not taken legal 
action to recover the arrears of maintenance for reasons including 
inability of the ex-spouse to pay maintenance, belief that the ex-
spouse would not pay maintenance; and inability to contact the 
ex-spouse. 

 
Admin 
 
 
Admin 

15. At the request of Ms Emily LAU, DSHA(1) agreed to provide the 
relevant findings in writing.  The Chairman requested the Administration to 
also provide reasons of those unsuccessful applications for a maintenance order 
in the information to be submitted.  In response to Deputy Chairman's enquiry, 
DSHA(1) explained that the survey findings regarding the enforcement of 
maintenance order were estimates derived from the information collected from 



-  7  - 
 

Action 
the interviewed households of the Thematic Household Survey conducted from 
June to August 2006 and did not represent the actual figures. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Admin 

16. Ms Emily LAU expressed concern about the measures available to assist 
those divorced/separated persons who had successfully obtained a maintenance 
order but could not receive maintenance.  DSHA(1) responded that 
maintenance payees who encountered financial difficulties following a default 
in maintenance payments could apply for the Comprehensive Social Security 
Assistance (CSSA).  He pointed out that a mechanism was in place to enlist the 
assistance of the Immigration Department in searching their records for the 
addresses of maintenance payers against whom legal actions would be taken to 
sue for maintenance arrears.  At the Chairman's request, DSHA(1) agreed to 
provide the number of cases in which this mechanism had been triggered to 
help lawyers representing the maintenance payees in the process of recovering
default maintenance payments. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

17. Dr Fernando CHEUNG pointed out that there were some 60 000 single-
parent families, half of which were on the CSSA Scheme.  He considered that 
the Administration should put in place more effective measures to assist 
maintenance payees in collecting maintenance payments rather than leaving the 
payees to resort to the CSSA Scheme, as this meant putting the financial 
burden on the community as a whole.  He urged the Administration to review 
the existing mechanism and procedures for the enforcement of maintenance 
orders and collection of maintenance payments with a view to seeking 
improvements.  He further suggested that as a Bills Committee would probably 
be formed to scrutinise the relevant legislative proposal, the Administration 
should commission an academic institute to conduct research studies on the 
existing problems and issues relating to the collection of maintenance 
payments, including the proposal of setting up an intermediary body and the 
situation of those single-parent families which could not receive maintenance, 
and provide the findings to the Bills Committee to be formed for reference. 
 
18. Miss CHAN Yuen-han and the Chairman echoed Dr CHEUNG's views. 
They considered that to review the existing mechanism for making 
improvements would be more fruitful than adopting a piecemeal approach for 
introducing improvements which only had limited effect in resolving problems 
encountered by maintenance payees.  The Chairman further said that 
Democratic Alliance for the Betterment and Progress of Hong Kong was in 
support of conducting such a review.  She pointed out that two motions on the 
subject of setting up a maintenance board or alimony council to assist in the 
collection and payment of alimony to single-parent families were passed by 
LegCo on 26 February 1997 and 8 December 1999 respectively.  The Research 
and Library Services Division of the LegCo Secretariat had also conducted an 
in-depth research study in 1998 on the operation and effectiveness of overseas 
intermediary bodies responsible for the collection and enforcement of 
maintenance payments.   



-  8  - 
 

Action 
 
19. DSHA(1) responded that the Administration had carefully considered 
the issue, but it maintained the view that the proposed board would not be able 
to offer maintenance payees or taxpayers any significant benefits over and 
above those that could be achieved by improving the existing system.  He 
explained that there was urgency to proceed with amending the AIO legislation 
so that the latter could apply to those persons whose income source came from 
the Government.  He explained that the Administration also took the view that 
maintenance payers should fulfil their obligations under the maintenance orders 
to provide maintenance to their ex-spouses and/or children, and the CSSA 
Scheme should only serve as a safety net.  He, however, pointed out that 
according to available information, between 2001 and 2006, about 95% of 
those single-parent families living on CSSA were receiving either nominal 
maintenance from their ex-spouse or did not receive any maintenance, whereas 
for those who could receive non-nominal maintenance payments, the average 
amount was around $1,600 only. 
 
Employment of maintenance payers 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Admin 

20. Mr LI Kwok-ying asked whether the Administration would adopt a 
recruitment policy that, when two applicants equally met the job requirements, 
the Administration would have a preference to offer employment to the 
applicant against whom an AIO had been directed.  DSHA(1) responded that
there was no such a policy measure as competence/merits were the prime 
consideration in the selection of applicants.  He, however, agreed to convey Mr 
LI's concerns to CSB for consideration.  Mr LI further asked whether a 
mechanism was in place for the Administration to provide timely assistance to 
the ex-spouse of Government contract staff who could not get renewal of his 
employment contract.  DSHA(1) reiterated that maintenance payees who 
encountered financial difficulties following a default in maintenance payments 
could apply for CSSA, and streamlined procedures had been implemented to 
facilitate processing applications for CSSA and legal aid by such payees. 

 
  
V. Policy on long-term sports development 

[LC Paper No. CB(2)1493/06-07(01) to (04)] 
 
Briefing by the Administration 
 
21. Permanent Secretary for Home Affairs (PSHA) briefed members on the 
salient points of the Administration's papers on "Sports development in Hong 
Kong" and the "Redevelopment of the Hong Kong Sports Institute (HKSI)".  
PSHA said that the Administration planned to submit the funding application 
for the preparatory works and tender documentation of the HKSI 
redevelopment proposal (the Project) at an estimated cost of around $50 
million to the Public Works Subcommittee (PWSC) for consideration at its 
meeting on 23 May 2007. 
 



-  9  - 
 

Action 
Sports development in Hong Kong 
[LC Paper No. CB(2)1493/06-07(01)] 
 
Direct financial support to athletes 
 
22. Members in general expressed support for the proposed key initiatives, 
including the provision of additional funding of $40 million annually from 
2007-2008 onwards to enhance the support to elite athletes.  Mr James TIEN 
further indicated the support of the Liberal Party for these proposed key 
initiatives.  
 
23. Referring to paragraph 10 of the Administration's paper, Dr Fernando 
CHEUNG requested the Administration to account for the big difference 
between the maximum amount ($21,250 - $32,500) and the average amount 
($5,400) of monthly subsidy provided to Elite A athletes and to disabled Elite 
A athletes respectively under the proposed Elite Athletes Grants.  He 
considered that the Administration should take into account the difficulties that 
had to be overcome by disabled athletes and improve the financial support for 
them.  Referring to recent media reports that an outstanding disabled athlete, 
had to pay personally for all the expenses to participate in international 
competitions and that another outstanding disabled athlete was relying on 
CSSA for a living, Dr CHEUNG criticised the Administration for failing to 
provide adequate financial support to outstanding disabled athletes.  
 
24. PSHA stated that able-bodied athletes might need to make more 
sacrifices, such as giving up opportunities for career development, in order to 
concentrate on sports training. This had to be taken into account in the 
provision of financial support.  She added that the Hong Kong Paralympians 
Fund, a separate fund in the amount of $50 million was providing financial 
support to cover the basic living expenses of disabled athletes and to support 
them upon their retirement.   
 
25. Referring to Annexes A and B to the Administration's paper, Miss TAM 
Heung-man and Dr Fernando CHEUNG were of the view that financial support 
should also be provided to potential athletes.  PSHA explained that as potential 
athletes were not full-time athletes, and many of them were pursuing their 
studies with family support or had a job, their need for subsidies to cover living 
expenses was smaller.   
 
26. Mr CHEUNG Hok-ming asked whether the Administration had 
compared the amounts of monthly stipends for Hong Kong's elite athletes with 
those in Asian countries or neighbouring places, and whether the criteria for 
qualifying to be an elite athlete in Hong Kong were too stringent.   
 
27. PSHA responded that it was difficult for her to comment whether the 
criteria for qualifying to be an elite athlete in Hong Kong as adopted by HKSI 
were stringent or not.  She said that an athlete ranked the fourth to the eighth at 
Asian Games or world championships of individual sports, not necessarily 



-  10  - 
 

Action 
winning gold, silver or bronze medals at these major games, would be qualified 
as an Elite B athlete.  In other words, the criteria had allowed flexibility taking 
into account the fact that Hong Kong's athletes would not always be able to 
attain the highest level of excellence at international competitions.  PSHA 
further pointed out that it was also difficult to compare the amounts of monthly 
stipends for Hong Kong's elite athletes with those in neighbouring places, such 
as the Mainland, because of the differences in the circumstances and systems of 
elite training .  She further invited members to note that the current proposal on 
the direct financial support to elite athletes had the support of key stakeholders 
in the sports community including the Sports Federation & Olympic 
Committee of Hong Kong, China (SF&OC) and Hong Kong Elite Athletes 
Association as shown in their support letters sent to the Panel.  
 
Education opportunities and career development 
 
28. Dr Fernando CHEUNG and Miss CHAN Yuen-han urged the 
Administration to work out details of the retirement package for elite athletes 
as soon as possible.  Miss CHAN considered that the Administration should 
seek to provide athletes with a financially stable environment to undergo 
training and compete in major games. 
 
29. Mr CHEUNG Man-kwong considered that the Administration should 
also assist elite athletes in the pursuit of a decent living when they retired from 
their careers in sports.  Referring to paragraphs 12 to 13 of the Administration's 
paper, Mr CHEUNG said that the Administration failed to address the major 
concern of junior athletes about their studies being adversely affected by the 
demanding sports training which they had to undergo in order to be local top 
athletes.  Mr CHEUNG suggested that the Administration should consider 
providing university places for elite athletes to pursue further studies through 
commercial sponsorship or public funding.   
 

 
 
 
 
 
Admin 

30. In response, PSHA explained that the Administration was working out a 
comprehensive athlete retirement scheme in collaboration with SF&OC, and 
following up with the eight University Grants Committee-funded institutions
on measures to facilitate retired athletes to pursue higher education in Hong 
Kong.  Details of the retirement package would be submitted to the Panel for 
discussion when available.  She also informed members that some corporations 
had expressed willingness to support retired athletes who wished to pursue a 
working career after retirement, by way of providing scholarship or on-the-job 
training.  The Administration would draw up an appropriate scheme for the 
participation of these corporations. 
 
31. PSHA further said that HKSI had made available education support 
service to athletes who were students.  However, as pointed out by some head 
coaches, the intense competition in sports had made it difficult for elite athletes 
to pursue regular studies and sports training at the same time, and it was 
necessary for elite athletes to give up their regular studies in order to achieve 



-  11  - 
 

Action 
outstanding performance.  The Administration considered it more important to 
put in place a comprehensive retirement scheme to enhance the well being of 
elite athletes and was planning to deploy about $7 million to support such a 
scheme.  
 
32. Mr Albert CHAN suggested that the Administration should learn from 
overseas experience in building up a strong sporting culture and support for 
athletes.  For example, some overseas universities would have the practice of 
giving favourable treatment to outstanding athletes in admission.  He further 
suggested that the Administration should invite corporations to take part in 
providing professional training to potential junior athletes, which would be 
useful to these athletes when looking for employment upon retirement from 
their career in sports.  
 
33. Chairman of HKSI said that renowned athletes in some overseas 
countries did have very high publicity value and such business opportunities 
could also be explored for local top athletes.  He pointed out that some 
corporations in Hong Kong had also shown enthusiastic support to sports 
development by way of sponsorship and donations, e.g. the first Table Tennis 
Academy sponsored by Hang Seng Bank to be set up soon.  Some more similar 
projects were also being explored.  Mr Albert CHAN reiterated that 
corporations should also show support by way of offering employment 
opportunities to elite athletes when they retired from their career in sports. 
 
Award scheme for elite athletes 
 
34. Mr Tommy CHEUNG said that corporations usually only sponsored 
popular sports and other sports such as windsurfing had not attracted much 
commercial sponsorship.  He suggested that a trust fund should be set up to 
provide grants to elite athletes who had achieved excellent results in 
international competitions (e.g. the Asian Games) in recognition of their efforts 
and achievements.   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Admin 

35. Chief Executive of HKSI (CE/HKSI) said that HKSI had put in place 
award schemes for elite athletes, e.g. an elite athlete who won a gold medal in 
the Asian Games would be awarded $250,000 and those who won silver or 
bronze medals would also be awarded.  Mr CHEUNG considered that the said 
amount was too little.  PSHA explained that it was not desirable from the point 
of view of public finance management to use public money to provide 
monetary prizes.  Mr CHEUNG, however, said that he did not see anything 
wrong in doing so.  PSHA noted Mr CHEUNG's views and agreed to explore 
other sources to provide such grants. 
 
Management and operation of Nationals Sports Associations (NSAs) 
 
36. Mr Albert CHAN said that despite the availability of many high 
standard sports venues, the sports development in Hong Kong had been 



-  12  - 
 

Action 
hindered by the various malpractices in the management and operation of 
NSAs.  While indicating support for enhancing funding allocation to support 
elite athletes, Mr CHAN expressed worry that it would benefit the senior 
management personnel of NSAs, instead of elite athletes.  He criticised that the 
remuneration rate of senior management personnel of some major NSAs was 
unreasonably high, and there was a lack of transparency and accountability in 
the management and operation of NSAs, including the selection of athletes for 
participation in international sports competitions.  He considered that the 
Administration should reform the management and operation of NSAs. 
 
Promoting sports for all 
 
37. Miss CHAN Yuen-han said that there were general complaints about 
inadequate supply of community sports venues during high-demand periods.  
She considered that the Administration should resolve the problem in order to 
promote interest of the public in participation in sports.  
 
38. PSHA responded that to meet the community’s needs for recreation 
facilities, the Administration had taken measures to expedite the delivery of 
leisure and cultural services projects, and had been updating the Subcommittee 
to Follow up the Outstanding Leisure and Cultural Services Projects of the 
Former Municipal Councils on the progress of these works projects.  Ms Emily 
LAU was of the view that the Administration should also take active measures 
to cultivate the younger generation's interest in sport particularly students in 
primary and secondary schools, and to facilitate schools in utilising sports 
facilities of the Leisure and Cultural Services Department (LCSD) during non-
busy hours.   
 
Redevelopment of HKSI  
[LC Paper No. CB(2)1493/06-07(02)] 
 
39. In response to Dr Fernando CHEUNG's enquiry, PSHA assured 
members that all the sports and supporting facilities at the redeveloped HKSI 
would comply with the latest requirements of the draft revised Design Manual: 
Barrier Free Access 1997.  She further invited members to note that Hong 
Kong Paralympic Committee and Sports Association for the Physically 
Disabled and Hong Kong Sports Association for the Mentally Handicapped had 
sent letters to the Panel expressing support for the Project respectively.  
Professor Patrick LAU suggested that an architectural design open competition 
could be organised for the Project. 
 
40. Miss TAM Heung-man said that she supported the Project in principle. 
Referring to Annex I to the Administration's paper, Miss TAM asked why only 
four of the 15 hard ground courts would be refurbished and whether the 
remaining 11 courts would be retained.  CE/HKSI responded that a project was 
under way to invite non-profit making sports organisations to operate a tennis 
training base at the existing Kowloon Tsai Park Tennis Courts.  Fewer tennis 
courts were therefore planned for at the redeveloped HKSI.  However, the 



-  13  - 
 

Action 
provision of six outdoor courts (consisting of four hard surface and two new 
clay courts) and an indoor court would be able to meet adequately the athletes’ 
training needs. 
 
41. Miss TAM further asked what would be done to meet the training needs 
of elite athletes during the redevelopment of HKSI until the completion of the 
Project in the third quarter of 2011.  PSHA responded that since January 2007, 
HKSI had been temporarily relocated to YMCA’s Wu Kwai Sha Youth Village 
(WKSYV).  According to the preferred development option, HKSI would 
remain in its current temporary main base in WKSYV and continue using the 
venues of LCSD for elite training until completion of phase one works, 
estimated to be the third quarter of 2009.  HKSI would then move back to Fo 
Tan venue for the resumption of normal operation.  Phase two works would 
proceed in parallel with the normal operation of HKSI, and elite training 
facilities would by and large remain intact.  PSHA added that new and 
upgraded facilities including a new 50-metre swimming pool of international 
standard and bowling facilities would be provided at the redeveloped HKSI. 
 
Subsidence problems in the main stable compound of the Sha Tin Racecourse 
 
42. Mr James TIEN and Mr Tommy CHEUNG declared interests as the 
Voting Members of the Hong Kong Jockey Club (HKJC).  The Chairman 
declared interests as a Member of HKJC.     
 
43. Chairman/HKSI declared that he was also the Voting Member of HKJC.  
Ms Emily LAU expressed concern whether there might be a conflict of interest, 
given that Chairman/HKSI, being the Voting Member of HKJC, was chairing 
the HKSI Redevelopment Project Steering Committee responsible for taking 
forward the planning of the Project.  She expected that the Committee would 
need to discuss issues arising from the subsistence problems in the main stable 
compound of the Sha Tin Racecourse and consider the possibility of allowing 
HKJC to retain the new stables and training arenas after the Equestrian Events.  
She said that she would raise the issue with the Administration after the 
meeting. 
 
44. Ms Emily LAU also expressed concern about whether the subsidence 
problems had implications on the timetable for the redevelopment of HKSI.  
PSHA clarified that the subsidence problems had only prompted HKJC to 
request for retaining the use of the Olympic stables for decanting horses during 
replacement of the stable blocks.  She said that the subsidence problems had no 
implications on the timetable for the redevelopment of HKSI because, as 
shown in the master layout plan, the scope of the Project did not include the 
site on which the Olympic stables were built.  She added that it had been 
concluded that, with the proposed new and additional facilities provided at the 
redeveloped HKSI, it would be possible to meet the needs of HKSI in full in 
the foreseeable future without recovering the site in question.  
 
45. On the redevelopment timetable, Chairman of HKSI said that the 



-  14  - 
 

Action 
original plan was that the HKJC's reinstatement works at the site in question 
would be completed by December 2008 and HKSI could then move back to its 
Fo Tan site.  Subsequent to discussions between the Home Affairs Bureau 
(HAB) and HKSI, it was agreed to make full use of the intervening period (i.e. 
between the present and end 2008) to undertake all pre-construction 
preparatory work in order to lose no time in providing new or additional 
training facilities for elite athletes.  Under the revised plan, on site construction 
(i.e. phase I works) might commence immediately upon completion of the 
Equestrian Events.  HKSI would move back to Fo Tan venue and resume 
normal operation after the completion of phase one works in the third quarter 
of 2009.  Phase two works would proceed in parallel with the normal HKSI 
operations so that elite training facilities would by and large remain intact.  He 
further informed members that the new 11-storey multi-purpose building would 
be located at the site of the existing cycle velodrome of HKSI, which would be 
demolished as a new indoor all-weather velodrome would be built in Tseung 
Kwan O.  Thus, the construction of the new 11-storey building would not 
involve the use of any other site.  

 
46. PSHA supplemented that as the existing outdoor velodrome in HKSI 
could not meet the requirements for elite training, the Administration supported 
the provision of an indoor all-weather velodrome of international standard for 
the purpose of training and competitions.  The Administration had identified a 
suitable site in Tseung Kwan O for developing an indoor velodrome adjacent to 
a town park, and this had the full support of the Hong Kong Cycling 
Association and Sai Kung District Council. 
 
47. In response to Professor Patrick LAU's enquiry, PSHA said that HKJC 
had initially estimated that it would take about seven to 10 years for replacing 
all stable blocks in the Sha Tin Racecourse.  Professor LAU considered that if 
HKJC was allowed to use the site for such a long period of time, HKJC should 
be requested to provide scholarships to support elite athletes' studies.  PSHA 
said that HKJC was amongst the corporations which had expressed willingness 
to support retired athletes by way of providing scholarship or on-the-job 
training.  In addition, HKJC Charities Trust made considerable contributions to 
sports development each year, e.g. $100 million had been donated by HKJC for 
the construction of the Football Academy in Tseung Kwan O. 

 
48. Mr James TIEN agreed that the Administration could explore the 
possibility of retaining the new stables and training arenas by HKJC after the 
Equestrian Events in order to avoid wastage and address the subsidence 
problems.  He, however, considered that the Administration should clarify with 
HKJC the longest possible period of time it might take to resolve the 
subsistence problems and finish replacing all stable blocks in the Sha Tin 
Racecourse.  If it was estimated to be over 10 years, he considered that the 
Administration should assess whether this would have any adverse impact on 
sports development.  He said that to facilitate members' deliberation, a concrete 
timetable on the replacement works should be provided to members.  Mr 
Tommy CHEUNG expressed concurrence with Mr TIEN's views. 



-  15  - 
 

Action 
 
49. PSHA said that as HKJC was still in the course of conducting study on 
the subsistence problems, it had yet to provide a concrete timetable in this 
regard.  She reiterated that the Administration and HKSI considered that, with 
the proposed new and additional facilities provided at the redeveloped HKSI, it 
would be possible to meet in full the needs of HKSI and elite sports training in 
the foreseeable future, and there was no urgent need to recover the site in 
question for development.   

 
Submission of the Project to PWSC 
 
50. The Chairman sought members' views on whether they supported the 
submission of the funding application for the preparatory works of the Project 
to PWSC for consideration at its meeting on 23 May 2007.  Dr Fernando 
CHEUNG and Ms Emily LAU said that the Panel should receive views from 
the public on the proposed key initiatives on promoting sports development and 
the redevelopment of HKSI before further consideration of the issue.  After 
discussion, members agreed that the Panel should receive views from the 
public at its next regular meeting scheduled for 11 May 2007.  Members further 
agreed that the item on the Administration's follow-up action on the 
recommendations in paragraphs 9, 13, 15, and 18 of the concluding 
observations on the Second Report of HKSAR in the light of ICCPR originally 
included for discussion at the meeting on 11 May 2007 would be deferred. 
 

 
 
 
 
Clerk 

51. Dr Fernando CHEUNG further suggested that representatives from EOC 
should be invited to the meeting on 11 May 2007 to give views on whether the 
proposed Elite Athletes Grants would be in compliance with provisions of the 
Disability Discrimination Ordinance.  The Clerk was requested to follow up. 
 
 
VI. Estate beneficiaries support services 

[LC Paper Nos. CB(2)1230/06-07(01) and CB(2)1493/06-07(05)] 
 
52. Assistant Director (Administration) (AD(A)) of the Home Affairs 
Department briefed members on the salient points of the Administration's paper 
[LC Paper Nos. CB(2)1230/06-07(01)].  She said that since the dedicated 
“Estate Beneficiaries Support Unit” (EBSU) came into operation on 2 April 
2007 and up to 12 April 2007, a total of 159 applications for support services 
for estate beneficiaries had been received.  
 
53. The Chairman said that her district offices often received requests for 
assistance from women who suffered from financial hardship as a result of the 
sudden deaths of their husbands and refusals of banks to let them withdraw 
money from their deceased husbands' bank accounts to meet urgent needs.  The 
Chairman requested the Administration to explain how these women in need 
could obtain the support services from EBSU and relevant procedures.  
 



-  16  - 
 

Action 
54. AD(A) said that EBSU was set up on the third floor of Southorn Centre, 
Wan Chai.  The services provided included those set out in paragraph 3 of the 
Administration's paper.  Deputy Commissioner of Estate Duty of the Inland 
Revenue Department (IRD) supplemented that, according to the previous 
experiences of IRD in the delivery of those support services, the services could 
be provided within the following timeframe - 
 

(a) a Certificate for Necessity for Release of Money, subject to a 
maximum amount of $20,000 to be released, to meet funeral 
expenses of the deceased person could be issued within one hour; 

 
(b) a Certificate for Necessity for Release of Money to meet 

maintenance of former dependants of the deceased person could 
be issued to an applicant within one week; 

 
(c) if the deceased person rented a bank deposit box, a Certificate for 

Necessity of Inspection of Bank Deposit Box could be issued 
within two weeks; 

 
(d) an Authorisation for Removal from Bank Deposit Box to enable 

the estate beneficiaries or the surviving renters to remove 
specified documents and/or articles from the bank deposit box 
could be issued within two weeks; and 

 
(e) for the administration of a small estate made up of money not 

exceeding $50,000 in aggregate value, a Confirmation Notice 
exempting persons dealing with such small estates from the 
intermeddling provisions could be issued within 12 working days. 

 
55. There being no other business, the meeting ended at 1:00 pm. 
 
 
 
 
Council Business Division 2 
Legislative Council Secretariat 
29 May 2007 


